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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

JAMES ALDERMAN and JEAN LOSADA,
on behalf of themselves and
all others similarly situated

Plaintiffs,

V.

GATESTONE & CO. INTERNATIONAL INC.,
a Delaware Corporation

Defendant.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

1. Plaintiffs, James Alderman and Jean Losada allege violations of the Fair Debt
Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. 81692 et seq. (“FDCPA”).

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 81331, and 15 U.S.C. §1692k. Venue

in this District is proper because Defendant conducts business in this District.
PARTIES

3. Plaintiff, James Alderman (“Plaintiff Alderman”), is a natural person and citizen of
the State of Florida, residing in Indian River County, Florida.

4, Plaintiff, Jean Losada (“Plaintiff Losada”), is a natural person and citizen of the
State of Florida, residing in Palm Beach County, Florida.

5. Plaintiff Alderman and Plaintiff Losada herein collectively referred to as

“Plaintiffs.”
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6. Defendant, Gatestone & Co. International Inc., (“Defendant”), is a Delaware
Corporation engaged in the business of collecting consumer debts, which operates from offices
located at 1000 N. West Street Suite 1200, Wilmington, Delaware 19801.

7. Defendant regularly uses the United States Postal Service and telephone in the
collection of consumer debt.

8. Defendant regularly collects or attempts to collect debts for other parties.
Defendant is a “debt collector” as defined in the FDCPA.

9. At all times material to the allegations of this complaint, Defendant was acting as a
debt collector with respect to the collection of Plaintiffs’ alleged debts.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

10. Defendant sought to collect from Plaintiffs an alleged debt incurred by Plaintiffs
for personal, family, or household purposes; more specifically, the debts at issue were delinquent
credit card debts.

11. On or about August 6, 2016, Defendant sent a demand letter to Plaintiff Alderman
that sought to collect an alleged debt due to Bank of America, N.A. for an account whose number
ended in 4901. (The “Demand Letter 1”°). Attached hereto as “Exhibit 1.”

12. On or about August 6, 2016, Defendant sent a demand letter to Plaintiff Alderman
that sought to collect an alleged debt due to Bank of America, N.A. for an account whose number
ended in 4095. (The “Demand Letter 2”). Attached hereto as “Exhibit 2.”

13. On or about March 11, 2016, Defendant sent a demand letter to Plaintiff Losada
that sought to collect an alleged debt due to BMO Harris Bank, N.A. for an account whose number

ended in 7090. (The “Demand Letter 3”). Attached hereto as “Exhibit 3.”
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14, Demand Letter 1, Demand Letter 2, and Demand Letter 3 are herein collectively
referred to as the “Demand Letters.”
15. The Demand Letters were Defendant’s initial communication with Plaintiffs with
respect to the debts alleged therein.
16. The Defendant’s Demand Letters stated in part:
If you notify this office in writing within 30 days after receiving this
notice, this office will: obtain verification of the debt or obtain a
copy of a judgment and mail you a copy of such judgment or
verification.
XXXX
Please make sure that your payment clearly identifies your name and
that of your creditor so that payment can be properly applied to your
account. All payments mailed to this office should be payable to

Gatestone & Co. International Inc.

Online check payments can be made on our website at
www.gatestoneco.com].]

17. Pursuant 15 U.S.C §1692g(a) Defendant must provide Plaintiffs with:
Validation of debts.
(@) Notice of debt; contents

Within five days after the initial communication with a consumer in
connection with the collection of any debt, a debt collector shall,
unless the following information is contained in the initial
communication or the consumer has paid the debt, send the
consumer a written notice containing-

(1) the amount of the debt;

(2) the name of the creditor to whom the debt is owed,;

(3) a statement that unless the consumer, within thirty days after
receipt of the notice, disputes the validity of the debt, or any

portion thereof, the debt will be assumed to be valid by the debt
collector;
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(4) a statement that if the consumer notifies the debt collector in
writing within the thirty-day period that the debt, or any
portion thereof, is disputed, the debt collector will obtain
verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment against the
consumer and a copy of such verification or judgment will
be mailed to the consumer by the debt collector; and

(5) a statement that, upon the consumer’s written request within the
thirty-day period, the debt collector will provide the consumer
with the name and address of the original creditor, if different
from the current creditor.

(emphasis added)
18. 15 U.S.C. 8 1692¢e(10) states:

A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading

representation or means in connection with the collection of any

debt. Without limiting the general application of the foregoing, the
following conduct is a violation of this section:

XXXX

(10) The use of any false representation or deceptive means to
collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information
concerning a consumer.

19. Defendant’s Demand Letters falsely and misleadingly pronounce the verification
rights of Plaintiffs provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1692g. Defendant’s statement “If you notify this office
in writing within 30 days after receiving this notice, this office will: obtain verification of the debt
or obtain a copy of a judgment and mail you a copy of such judgment or verification.” omits that
the Plaintiffs written notification must dispute the debt or any portion thereof as stated in 15 U.S.C.
8§ 16929(4).

20. In addition, Defendant’s statement “If you notify this office in writing within 30
days after receiving this notice, this office will: obtain verification of the debt or obtain a copy of
a judgment and mail you a copy of such judgment or verification.” is misleading and confusing

as it is subject to more than one interpretation. Defendant’s statement does not inform the Plaintiffs
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of what they need to notify Defendant’s office of, i.e. that they need to dispute the debt or any
portion thereof, as opposed to, for example, writing to notify the Defendant that the consumer
cannot afford to make any payment on the debt.

21. Any potential bona fide error defense which relies upon Defendant’s mistaken
interpretation of the legal duties imposed upon it by the FDCPA would fail as a matter of law.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
AS TO DEFENDANT

22. This action is brought on behalf of a Class consisting of (i) all persons with
addresses in the State of Florida (ii) to whom letters that contained the language: “If you notify
this office in writing within 30 days after receiving this notice, this office will: obtain verification
of the debt or obtain a copy of a judgment and mail you a copy of such judgment or verification.”
(iii) were mailed, delivered or caused to be served by the Defendant (iv) that were not returned
undeliverable by the U.S. Post Office (v) in an attempt to collect a debt incurred for personal,
family, or household purposes (vi) during the one-year period prior to the filing of the original
Complaint in this action through the date of certification.

23. Plaintiffs allege on information and belief based upon the Defendant’s use of the
phrase: “If you notify this office in writing within 30 days after receiving this notice, this office
will: obtain verification of the debt or obtain a copy of a judgment and mail you a copy of such
judgment or verification.” in its letters served upon the Class is so numerous that joinder of all
members of the Class is impractical.

24, There are questions of law or fact common to the Class, which common issues
predominate over any issues involving only individual Class members. The factual issue common
to each Class member is that each was served with a letter by Defendant that contained the phrase:

“If you notify this office in writing within 30 days after receiving this notice, this office will: obtain
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verification of the debt or obtain a copy of a judgment and mail you a copy of such judgment or
verification.” The common principal legal issue is whether Defendant’s wording violated the
FDCPA by misleading the least sophisticated consumer to believe that they were being given the
correct validation notice required by 15 U.S.C. §1692g after an “initial communication” by a debt
collector.

25. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of those of the Class members. All are based on the
same facts and legal theories.

26. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class. They have
retained counsel experienced in handling actions involving unlawful practices under the FDCPA
and Class actions. Neither Plaintiffs nor their counsel have any interests which might cause them
not to vigorously pursue this action.

27. Certification of the Class under Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure is also appropriate in that:

(1) The questions of law or fact common to the members of the class
predominate over any questions affecting an individual member.

(2) A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair
and efficient adjudication of the controversy.

28. Plaintiffs request certification of a Class under Rule 23(b)(3), of the Federal Rules
of Civil Procedure, for monetary damages; their appointment as Class Representatives; and that
their attorney Leo W. Desmond be appointed Class Counsel.

COUNT |

VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. 8 1692q(a)(4)
CLASS CLAIM AGAINST DEFENDANT

29. Plaintiffs incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 21.
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30. 15 U.S.C. 81692g(a)(4) states after an initial communication the Defendant must
provide Plaintiffs with:

(4) [A] a statement that if the consumer notifies the debt
collector in writing within the thirty-day period that the debt, or
any portion thereof, is disputed, the debt collector will obtain
verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment against the
consumer and a copy of such verification or judgment will be
mailed to the consumer by the debt collector; and

31. Defendant sent the Demand Letters to Plaintiffs on behalf of Plaintiffs’ creditors in
an attempt to collect a consumer debt, namely to collect alleged debts due to Plaintiffs’ various
credit card accounts.

32. By claiming to have given Plaintiffs the information required by the FDPCA,
Defendant has attempted to mislead Plaintiffs and the Class into believing that each Demand Letter
contained the proper validation notice required under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act.

33. Defendant’s Demand Letters omit that the consumer, in order to receive the benefits
provided by 15 U.S.C. 8 1692g(a)(4), must specifically dispute the debt or any portion thereof.

34. Defendant’s statement in its Demand Letters only state that the Plaintiffs need to
notify Defendant’s office, however it does not inform the Plaintiffs of what they need to “notify”
Defendant’s office of, i.e. that the consumer needs to dispute the amount of the debt to receive
verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment if one exists.

35. Defendant’s statement “If you notify this office in writing within 30 days after
receiving this notice, this office will: obtain verification of the debt or obtain a copy of a judgment
and mail you a copy of such judgment or verification.” could mislead the least sophisticated

consumer to believe that he or she could notify Defendant’s office in writing of their inability to

pay the debt or to request a payment plan and the Defendant would send the consumer verification
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of the debt pursuant to the statute, and while not stated, invoke the protections afforded to
consumers by 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢g(b).

36. As aresult of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to an award
of statutory damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1692k.

37. As a result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to an award

of costs and attorney fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1692k.
COUNT 11

VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢
CLASS CLAIM AGAINST DEFENDANT

38. Plaintiffs re-allege Paragraphs 1 through 21 and Paragraphs 30 through 35.
39. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e¢ states:
A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading
representation or means in connection with the collection of any

debt. Without limiting the general application of the foregoing, the
following conduct is a violation of this section:

XXXX

(10) The use of any false representation or deceptive means to
collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information
concerning a consumer.

40. Defendant sent the Demand Letters to Plaintiffs on behalf of Plaintiffs’ creditors in
an attempt to collect a consumer debt, namely to collect alleged debts due to Plaintiffs’ various
credit card accounts.

41. By claiming to have given Plaintiffs the information required by the FDPCA,
Defendant has attempted to mislead Plaintiffs and the Class into believing that the Demand Letter
contained the proper validation notice required under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act.

42. Defendant’s Demand Letters omit that the consumer may dispute any portion of the

debt in writing despite the clear wording of 15 U.S.C. §1692g(a)(4).
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43. Defendant’s Demand Letter is a misstatement of 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1692g(a)(4) that
would be confusing and misleading to the least sophisticated consumer with regard to his/her legal
rights as it omits that the Plaintiffs and the Class must dispute the debt or any portion thereof in
order to receive verification of the debt as well as the protections available pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
§ 1692g(b).

44, Defendant’s statement in its Demand Letters only states that the Plaintiffs need to
notify Defendant’s office, however it does not inform the Plaintiffs of what they need to notify
Defendant’s office of, i.e. that the consumer needs to dispute the amount of the debt to receive
verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment if one exists.

45, Defendant’s statement “If you notify this office in writing within 30 days after
receiving this notice, this office will: obtain verification of the debt or obtain a copy of a judgment
and mail you a copy of such judgment or verification.” could mislead the least sophisticated
consumer to believe that he or she could notify Defendant’s office in writing of their inability to
pay the debt or to request a payment plan and the Defendant would send the consumer verification
of the debt. Defendant’s statement is susceptible to more than one interpretation.

46. As a result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to an award
of statutory damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1692k.

47. As a result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to an award
of costs and attorney’s fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1692k.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request that the Court enter judgment in their favor against
Defendant for:
a. An Order certifying this matter as a Class action and appointment of Plaintiffs as

Class Representatives as to all claims against Defendant;
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b. An Order appointing Leo W. Desmond as Class Counsel;
c. An award of statutory damages for Plaintiffs and the Class pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
81692k for all Class claims;
d. Anaward of attorney’s fees, litigation expenses and costs of the instant suit; and
e. Such other or further relief as the Court deems proper.
Dated: December 7, 2016.
Respectfully submitted,
DESMOND LAW FIRM, P.C.

/s/ Leo W. Desmond

LEO W. DESMOND, ESQ.
Florida Bar No. 0041920
5070 Highway A1A

Suite D

Vero Beach, FL 32963
Telephone: 772-231-9600
Facsimile: 772-231-0300
Iwd@verobeachlegal.com

SOVATHARY K. JACOBSON, ESQ.
Florida Bar No. 102200

5070 Highway A1A

Suite D

Vero Beach, FL 32963

Telephone: 772-231-9600

Facsimile: 772-231-0300
jacobson@verobeachlegal.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Florida

JAMES ALDERMAN & JEAN LOSADA, on behalf of
themselves and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No.

GATESTONE & CO. INTERNATIONAL INC.
a Delaware Corporation

e N e N  a

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) GATESTONE & CO. INTERNATIONAL INC.
C/O C T CORPORATION SYSTEM
1200 SOUTH PINE ISLAND ROAD
PLANTATION, FL 33324

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are: DESMOND LAW FIRM, P.C.

LEO W. DESMOND, ESQ.
5070 HIGHWAY A1A, SUITE D
VERO BEACH, FL 32963

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

[ 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

O I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
O I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
O Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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P.0. Box 101928
BasiaditR-cv-14541-RLR
Birmingham, AL 35210-1928

‘FATE FPONE

Visit our website: www.gatestoneco.com
800-678-3052
Our hours of operation are
Mon - Thu 8:00am to 11:00pm EST
Fri, 8:00am to 5:00pm and Sat 9:00am to 2:00pm EST

(U TR TR | TR T TR R R T Refore: August 06 208 st

15 - 65163-8A Creditor; Bank of America, N.A.
James M Alderman Account # XXXXXXXXXX4901
1408 25th Ave Amount Owing: 7,050.73

Vero Beach, FL 32960-3266

Dear Sit/Mme:

Your account has been placed by Bank of America with Gatestone & Co. International Inc., a collection agency. This communication from a debt collector is
an attempt to collect a debt and any information obtained will be used for that purpose. Calls to or from our company may be monitored or recorded for quality
2SSUTAnCe PUrposes.

Unless you notify this office within 30 days after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of the debt or any portion thereof, this office will assume
this debt is valid. If you notify this office in writing within 30 days after receiving this notice, this office will: obtain verification of the debt or obtain a copy
of a judgment and mail you a copy of such judgment or verification. I you request this office in writing within 30 days afier receiving this notice, this office
will provide you with the name and address of the original creditor, if different from the current creditor.

Should you have any questions concerning your payment or your account, please telephone our office. Please make sure that your payment clearly identifies
your name and that of your creditor so that payment can be properly applied to your account. All payments mailed to this office should be payable to
Gatestone & Co. International Inc.

Online check payments can be made on our website at www.gatestoneco.com with the use of this security feature code 727220.

MR. LEN MANGOS
(800) 445-6367

Please Detach and Return This Portion with Payment

tion 1: Make Check Payable to: Gatestone & Co. International Inc,
Option 2: Pre-Authorized — Auto Pay [ ]
on : SRR RAON
Routing No. James M Alderman
Name of Bank 1408 25th Ave
Check No. Vero Beach, FI. 32960-3266
Account No.
Name of Account Holder
Signature
Payment Amount § Q0 (TR L ALt L ] E N | T L
Gatestone & Co. International Inc.
Reference #: BAM 71-076275531 ;
Company: Gatestone & Co. International Inc. (Loc.71) %Sggﬁg\foit]ggef é’ggllme 1200

By mailing your check you authorize Gatestone & Co. International Inc.
to debit your account, one time for the amount of the check, via an
electronic funds transfer (EFT). Funds may be withdrawn from your
account as soon as the same day payment is received. UK
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Birmingham, AL 35210-1928

Visit our website: www.gatestoneco.com
800-678-3052
Our hours of operation are
Mon - Thu 8:00am to 11:00pm EST
Fri, 8:00am to 5:00pm and Sat 9:00am to 2:00pm EST

'“I"I“'l“"l'llll“l'l"h"ll“l'"'lll'll"mllll'l"‘ll‘l Referglit:;;é;ilﬁ 3115,3;)612675421

15 -65163-8A Creditor: Bank of America, N.A.
James M Alderman Account #: XOOOOKXXXXXX4095
1408 25th Ave Amount Owing: 3,193.89

Vero Beach, FL 32960-3266

Dear Sir/Mme:

Y our account has been placed by Bank of America with Gatestone & Co. International Inc., a collection agency. This communication from a debt collector is
an attempt to collect a debt and any information obtained will be used for that purpose. Calls to or from our company may be monitored or recorded for quality
assurance purposes.

Unless you notify this office within 30 days after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of the debt or any portion thereof, this office will assume
this debt is valid. If you notify this office in writing within 30 days after receiving this notice, this office will: obtain verification of the debt or obtain a copy
of a judgment and mail you a copy of such judgment or verification. If you request this office in writing within 30 days after receiving this notice, this office
will provide you with the name and address of the original creditor, if different from the current creditor.

Should you bave any questions concerning your payment or your account, please telephone our office. Please make sure that your payment clearly identifies
your name and that of your creditor so that payment can be properly applied to your account. All payments mailed to this office should be payable to
Gatestone & Co. International Inc.

Omnline check payments can be made on our website at www.gatestoneco.com with the use of this security feature code 727220,

MR. LEN MANGOS
(800) 445-6367

Please Detach and Return This Portion with Payment

b 3 Bee Aot At pay [ ] emeiomt e O R

Routing No. James M Alderman

Name of Bank 1408 25th Ave

Check No. Vero Beach, FL 32960-3266

Account No.

Name of Account Holder

Signature

Payment Amount $ OO (T 1 L | PR L TR | TP T LU R
. ) Gatestone & Co. International Inc.

%gfrel;?; éaBteP;a/)In?; é?fﬁfeznllational Inc. (Loc.71) %??&Igﬁg\g)itggef ;,Sgllnte 1200

By mailing your check you authorize Gatestone & Co. International Inc.
to debit your account, one time for the amount of the cheek, via an
electronic funds transfer (EFT). Funds may be withdrawn from your
account as soon 8s the same day payment is received. [JK
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1060 N. West Street % 0000609
Suite 1200 ' GATESTONE
Wilmington, DE 19801 |
Visit our website: www.gatestoneco.com
800-678-3052
Our hours of operation are
Mo - Thu 8:00am to 11:00pm EST
Fri, 8:00am to 5:00pm and Sat 8:00am to 2:00pm EST

1-60178-14E - 'BMO HARRIS BANK N.A. (DINERS -
Jean Losada : TATRY.
9325 NW 5th Ave
Miami, FL 33150-2127

Dear Sir/Mme:

Your account has been placed with Gatestone & Co. International Inc., a collection agency. This communication from a debt collector is an attempt to
collect a debt and any information obtained will be used for that purpose. Calls 1o or from our company may be monitored or recorded for quatity
assurance purposes.

Unless you notify this office within 30 days after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of the debt or any portion thereof, this office will
assume this debt is valid. If you notify this office in writing within 30 days afier receiving this notice, this office will: obtain verification of the debt
or obtain a copy of a judgment and mail you a copy of such judgment or verification. If you request this office in writing within 30 days after
receiving this notice, this office will provide you with the name and address of the original creditor, if different from the current creditor.

Should you have any questions concerning your payment or your account, please telephone our office. Please make sure that your payment clearly
identifies your name and that of your creditor so that payment can be properly applied to your account, All payments mailed to this office should be
payable to Gatestone & Co. International Inc.

Online check payments can be made on our website at www.gatestoneco.com with the use of this security code 192765.

MS. ANNA DONNELLY
{866) 653-6252

Please Detach and Return This Portion with Payment

Option 1: Make Check Payable to: Gatestone & Co. International Inc.
Option 2: Pre-Authorized — Auto Pay [ ]

Jean Losada Routing No.

9325 NW 5th Ave Name of Bank

Miami, FL 33150-2127 Check No.

AR ENEN T Naoms of Accou Hode

Signature

Payment Amount $

Tl
g [ g fybypesprpp byl i I bl e ?efefem "2‘; 't‘ 11 607 ‘1&0?:05 termational I
v : ompany. Lratestone 0. Infernational Inc.
Gatestone & Co. International Inc. pany
1000N. West Street, Suite 1200
Wﬂmmgwn’ DE 19801 By maiting your check you suthorize Gatestone & Co. Interastional Inc.
to debit your acrount, one thue for the amount of the check, via an
electronic funds transfer (EFT). Funds may be withdrawn from your
account as soon as the same dsy payment is recelved, In the event your
check is returned unpaid for insufficient or uncollected funds, we may
re-present your check. Your check will not be refurned by your financlal

UM institution.
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